University of Northern Iowa UNI ScholarWorks

Dissertations and Theses @ UNI

Student Work

2015

A comparison of hip and knee torques produced during a maximal effort full and partial back squat

Jordan Alexander Williams University of Northern Iowa

Let us know how access to this document benefits you

Copyright ©2015 Jordan Alexander Williams

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.uni.edu/etd

Part of the Sports Sciences Commons

Recommended Citation

Williams, Jordan Alexander, "A comparison of hip and knee torques produced during a maximal effort full and partial back squat" (2015). *Dissertations and Theses @ UNI*. 189. https://scholarworks.uni.edu/etd/189

This Open Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Work at UNI ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations and Theses @ UNI by an authorized administrator of UNI ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact scholarworks@uni.edu.

Offensive Materials Statement: Materials located in UNI ScholarWorks come from a broad range of sources and time periods. Some of these materials may contain offensive stereotypes, ideas, visuals, or language.

A COMPARISON OF HIP AND KNEE TORQUES PRODUCED DURING A MAXIMAL EFFORT FULL AND PARTIAL BACK SQUAT

An Abstract of a Thesis

Submitted

in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the Degree

Master of Arts

Jordan Alexander Williams

University of Northern Iowa

July 2015

ABSTRACT

This study examined the levels of hip and knee torques produced during a one repetition maximum (1RM partial) squat and full squat in order to determine if there would be a difference in the peak torque created at the two depths.

Eight male athletes (standing height = 1.84 ± 0.07 m; mass = 87 ± 14 kg; age 23 ± 2.1 years) volunteered for the study. Each subject performed a 1RM squat at full squat (as low as the participant could go, at least 0° or thigh parallel in relation to the ground) and partial squat (thigh at 45° in relation to the ground). The trials were collected in two sessions one week apart. The joint torques were calculated at the instant they reached the maximum depth for each trial, as well as at 45° in the full squat trials.

The difference in knee and hip extension torques achieved was not significant at maximum depth ($p \ge .05$). The full squat achieved the same level of hip and knee torque as the partial squat with significantly less barbell load. Participants averaged a 60.5% increase in barbell load, which was significant (p < .05), in the partial squat when compared to the full squat.

Due to the large increase in barbell load during the partial squat, the participants mentioned much more discomfort and were less inclined to approach a true 1RM as they did with the full squat. The partial squat also slightly changed the mechanics of the squat with the subjects maintaining a more erect posture to alleviate some of the strain placed on the spine and back musculature which could place the spine at an increased risk for injury. For the partial squat to be an effective training lift, the participants would have to increase the load to a point that they find uncomfortable and place the spine under excess stress than would a full squat that would achieve the same levels of joint torques.

A COMPARISON OF HIP AND KNEE TORQUES PRODUCED DURING A MAXIMAL EFFORT FULL AND PARTIAL BACK SQUAT

A Thesis

Submitted

in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the Degree

Master of Arts

Jordan Alexander Williams

University of Northern Iowa

July 2015

APROVAL PAGE

This Study by: Jordan Alexander Williams

Entitled: A Comparison of Hip and Knee Torques Produced During a Maximal Effort Full and Partial Back Squat

has been approved as meeting the thesis requirement for the

Degree of Master of Arts

| Date | Dr. Travis Ficklin, Chair, Thesis Committee | | | | |
|------|---|--|--|--|--|
| Date | Dr. Robin Lund, Thesis Committee Member | | | | |
| Date | Dr. Forrest Dolgener, Thesis Committee Member | | | | |
| Date | Dr. April Chatham-Carpenter, Interim Dean, Graduate College | | | | |

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. Travis Ficklin and Dr. Robin Lund whose classes inspired me to take on this project. Their guidance and individual expertise also allowed me to greatly improve the quality of my research. In addition, their individual commitment to go above and beyond the scope of their normal duties as teachers, and mentors, has helped me develop as a student, and as a person.

I would like to thank the University of Northern Iowa Strength and Conditioning Department. The practical experience I have gained working as a strength coach also helped lead me to choose this research.

I would like to thank all my participants, without whom none of this would have been possible.

I would like to thank my track coach, Dan O'Mara, who pushed me further than I ever thought possible. A person who pushed me not just to become a better athlete, but a better student, and better person.

Finally, I would like to thank my family. My parents, Greg and Jill for giving me the chance to pursue my dreams both as a collegiate athlete and as a graduate student. Along with the additional support of my grandparents, John, Gwen, Winnie, and Fred, without all of their support through the years I surely would not have had the support to reach this level of success.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

iv

| LIST OF TABLES | vi |
|---|-----|
| LIST OF FIGURES | vii |
| CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| Statement of the Problem and Purpose of the Study | 2 |
| Research Question | 3 |
| Null Hypothesis | 3 |
| Significance of the Study | 3 |
| Delimitations | 3 |
| Limitations | 3 |
| Assumptions | 4 |
| Definition of Terms | 4 |
| CHAPTER II. REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE | 6 |
| Introduction | 6 |
| Technique | 6 |
| Benefits and Detriments of the Back Squat | 7 |
| Forces Created During a Back Squat | 10 |
| Factors that Determine the Forces Created During a Back Squat | 11 |
| Conclusions | 14 |
| CHAPTER III. METHODOLOGY | 16 |
| Participants | 16 |

| Procedure | 16 |
|----------------------------------|----|
| Instrumentation | 16 |
| Protocol | 18 |
| Data Analysis | 20 |
| CHAPTER IV. RESULTS | 21 |
| CHAPTER V. DISCUSSION | 24 |
| Conclusions | 27 |
| Recommendations for Future Study | |
| REFERENCES | 29 |

LIST OF TABLES

| TABL | PAGE |
|------|--|
| 1 | Descriptive Statistics for Demographic Variables |
| 2 | Descriptive Statistics of Performance Variables by Depth at Similar Angles22 |
| 3 | Descriptive Statistics of Performance Variables by Depth at the Greatest Depths |

LIST OF FIGURES

| FIGU | RE | PAGE |
|------|---|------|
| 1 | A Visual Representation of the Pelvis Cross-Section | 17 |
| 2 | Knee Torque vs. Barbell Load | 22 |
| 3 | Hip Torque vs. Barbell Load | 23 |

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

The back squat is a strength and conditioning lift that is a cornerstone movement of most strength programs. It is a dynamic strength exercise that is popular in programs for sports that require a high level of strength and power such as football, track and field, powerlifting and Olympic weightlifting. The squat strengthens the hip, thigh, and back musculature which are used in a variety of dynamic movements. The squat has also been shown to minimize the risk of injury in movements that involve those muscle groups and joints (Escamilla, 2001).

The knee is a particularly vulnerable joint in athletics. Most coaches are apprehensive about involving any activity that puts this joint at an increased perceived risk. On the other hand, they see the importance of the barbell back squat to develop peak strength in the legs. This has led to variations of the back squat and one common variation is the depth of the squat (Hartmann, Wirth, & Klusemann, 2013). The most common variations of squat depths used are the deep squat, where the hamstrings rest against the calves with the athlete not being able to flex the knees any more while maintaining an erect spine. Another variation is the parallel squat. It is most commonly measured by the top of the thigh being parallel to the floor. It may be of importance to note that although the two former depths differ slightly, they have both been referred to in the literature as a full squat (Hartman et al., 2013). Finally, the partial squat measured as having a thigh angle in relation to the ground above 0°, or parallel, and below 45°. The partial squat variation is thought to place less tension (torque) on the knee and hip joints and therefore reduce the risk of knee and hip pain or injury to the athlete. However to still achieve the same amount of muscle activation and strength improvement at a lesser depth, the resistance must be increased. It stands to reason that these increases in resistance will, at some point, cause and equal amount of torque at the knee joint.

Statement of the Problem and Purpose of the Study

When there is an injury to the knee joint or an athlete is having knee pain, one of the first changes a coach can make is switching to a partial squat, over a full squat. Specifically, the coach will have the athlete perform the lift at less depth (partial squat) because they think that it places less stress on the knee (Gross, Credle, Hopkins, & Kollins, 1990). One problem with this is that limiting depth decreases the range of motion in the knee and hip joints which can lead to deficiencies in range of motion as well as strength of the hip musculature (Fry, Smith, & Schilling, 2003). A decrease in range of motion will place the athlete at a higher risk for injury if the joint is forced outside the range of motion in practice or competition (Schoenfeld, 2010). Another problem is that the forces on the knee are lessened during a squat at a higher depth with an equal load. However, in order to still achieve increases in strength, the weight must be increased. This change will increase the torque forces generated by the knee and hip (Escamilla et al., 2009).

The purpose of this research is to determine whether or not there is a difference in the magnitude of knee torque produced during a 1RM for a back squat at two depths. A full squat where the femur is at least 0°, or parallel to the ground, and a partial squat where the femur is at a 45° degree angle to the ground. A second purpose is to determine the effect of depth on maximum load lifted.

Research Question

1. Is there a difference in the magnitude of torque produced and load lifted between the two varying squat depths at maximal effort?

Null Hypothesis

There will be no difference in joint torque between the two squat depths at a maximal effort.

Significance of the Study

This research was done to show whether or not there is any significant difference in knee torque produced during a full and partial squat using the same subjects in the same study. All research up to this point has drawn comparisons about the varying depths at either sub-maximal loads, or comparing the two depths across multiple studies with different subjects and methodologies.

Delimitations

- 1. Eight current and former collegiate athletes participated in this research
- 2. The amount of weighted resistance used for each participant will vary.

Limitations

- 1. The effort of participants during the measured trials and whether or not it is truly maximal.
- 2. If the subjects perform other workouts outside the study, it could prevent them from achieving a maximal weight.

- 3. An illness may prevent a subject from attaining a true maximal weight.
- 4. If a participant has an injury, it can prevent them from getting a maximal weight.

Assumptions

- 1. The force plate is valid and reliable.
- 2. The VICON system is valid and reliable.
- 3. The barbell and weights are valid and reliable.
- 4. The depth variation is consistent with all subjects.
- Reliability and validity of the equipment used should be assumed to be accurate but cannot be guaranteed.

Definition of Terms

1 RM: one repetition maximum (Cronin & Hansen, 2005)

Partial Squat: Squat position where the participant descends until the femur is 45

degrees to the platform (Bohannon, 1990)

Full Squat: Squat position where the participant descends until the femur is

parallel to the platform (Bohannon, 1990)

Force Plate: are measuring instruments that measure the ground

reaction forces generated by a body standing on or moving across them (Gullett, Tillman,

Gutierrez, & Chow, 2009)

Vicon: Is a three dimensional motion capture system that uses a series of infrared cameras and reflective markers placed on a subject that are read and interpreted by the motion capture software (VICON Ltd.).

Torque: (Force \cdot Moment Arm) The ability of a force to cause rotation on a lever, in the case of this study the levers are the joint segments and the force is the muscle force produced to extend the joint. Measured in Newton-Meters (N·m).

Hip:Knee Torque Ratio: Hip torque divided by knee torque

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE

<u>Introduction</u>

The back squat is a dynamic strength movement that is present in most strength programs for athletes that require strength and power to aid in their performance (Gullett et al., 2009). It is for this reason that this research has chosen to examine the back squat. However, there are some factors that must be reviewed. This chapter will provide a brief background on the technique used for the back squat and highlight some of the purported benefits and detriments of the lift. The forces that are created by the body and exerted on it, as well as what factors can affect these forces will also be examined.

Technique

One factor that should be addressed before the rest of this review and will influence all of the following categories are the variations in technique used by certain athletes. Different athletes may utilize varying stances or positions for this movement based on their body type, which will be discussed in the following section, or by the goals of the athlete. The first style is the conventional or "Olympic" style squat. It is so named because it is the variation used by Olympic weightlifters to aid in the training for the snatch and clean and jerk lifts. The bar is place on the trapezius, a bit higher than the posterior deltoid. The feet should be parallel approximately shoulder width, with the toes pointed slightly outward (Escamilla et al., 2001). The second variation is the power lifting style of squatting. This variation is called the "power" squat and is performed with the same basic technique as the previous style, except that the bar now rest on the posterior deltoids and the feet are wider than shoulder width with the toes pointed outward to a greater angle (Delavier, 2010).

Benefits and Detriments of the Back Squat

The back squat is an extremely dynamic weight lifting exercise. Although it primarily targets the quadriceps, it also works the hamstrings, hip flexors, and most of the back musculature. It uses nearly the entire muscular system, and also works the cardiovascular system. It also aids in the development of thoracic expansion, therefore, respiratory capacity (Delavier, 2010). For those reasons, it is included in so many strength programs for a wide variety of athletes. It has many purported benefits, as well as a few claimed detriments, which should be examined to give a clearer view of whether this lift is the correct lift for a particular athlete, or type of athlete.

The benefits of the back squat have been very well documented in a variety of other literature reviews and over a period of decades. The most obvious benefit of the back squat is an increase in strength and power in the thigh musculature. However, compared to the leg press which almost exclusively works the quadriceps and hamstrings, the back squat is not limited to this area. As stated above, the back squat involves the muscular system of most of the body. Most notably the hip flexor muscles, as well as the erector spinae in the lower back. Therefore it can be seen as a much more efficient use of the athlete's time to choose a back squat, rather than a leg press (Escamilla et al., 2001). Another demonstrated benefit of the back squat is joint stability.

When the back squat is performed, the joint becomes stronger and more stable throughout the practiced range of motion (Fry et al., 2003). This is important because a

joint is more vulnerable and prone to injury when forced out of its normal range of motion. This increased joint stability and mobility can decrease the risk of injury for athletes (McGill, 1997). It becomes important for the athlete to perform the squat to a full depth to gain strength throughout the largest range of motion possible to minimize injury risk, as long as the lift is done with proper technique and appropriate level of difficulty (Zatsiorsky & Kraemer, 2006). Perhaps the most sought after benefit from the back squat is the increase in athletic performance.

There is a large portion of research has shown that an increase in strength in the back squat is positively correlated with vertical jump, 40 yard dash times, and power development. In the case of vertical jump, when strength is analyzed compared to proportionate body size, athletes with a higher absolute strength in the squat have a higher average vertical jump (Wisloff, Castagna, Helgerud, Jones, & Hoff, 2004). There is a similar correlation between back squat strength and sprint speed as well. In a study by McBride et al. in 2009, they demonstrated a significant correlation (P < .05) between higher relative squat strength and sprint speed in a range of distances from 10 to 40 yards, with a significant difference beginning to form at as little as 5 yards. This also demonstrates an increase in power through an increase in rate of force development. Interestingly, this increase rate of force development has been shown to be increased more effectively by training with half or partial squats. This is thought to be because athletes can train at a higher intensity and load for longer periods when compared to the full squat (Bazyler, Sato, Wassinger, Lamont, & Stone, 2014). With all of these benefits,

there may be some risks associated with back squats at the loads necessary to achieve them.

There is very little reliable, scientifically supported research to demonstrate that a back squat may cause injury when performed properly. There are still concerns that should be addressed, however. There are a variety of factors to consider when prescribing a back squat for an athlete. These factors include, but are not limited to: weight lifting experience, strength level, sport type, and athlete body type. If it is an athlete that has little experience with resistance training, education on the proper technique and progression of training should be the highest priority. The technique of the athlete will also be influence by the athlete's body type. Athletes with longer femurs and a shorter torso will have more trunk lean which will place more of the load on the lower back and hip extensors such as the hamstrings. Conversely, having a longer torso and shorter femurs and a longer torso will create a more erect posture, which will place focus more on the quadriceps. Understanding theses variations will help coaches maintain the correct posture for their athletes and reduce the risk of injury due to incorrect posture (Delavier, 2010).

The risk of injury is always present when performing any type of athletic movement and the back squat is no different. However, with all the data that has been collected, it has been conclusively demonstrated that the risk of injury for a back squat is minimal and it is considered to be a safe way to increase strength (Rittweger, Mutschelknauss, & Felsenberg, 2003). Even during a maximal effort, the forces exerted by the muscles and the strain placed on the tendons are all at levels below the threshold to cause a rupture (Fry et al., 2003). The only demonstrated instances of an injury occurring during the proper execution of the squat were the result of an elite power lifter attempting to lift 2.5 times their body weight. In all other instances, injuries occurred under unsafe conditions when the athlete was using improper technique or an excessive load for their experience level (Escamilla, 2001). No matter how the back squat is performed, whichever technique is used whether correctly or incorrectly, there is still a large magnitude of force exerted by the muscles and joints to take the body through the movement.

Forces Created During the Back Squat

When the back squat is performed there are forces exerted both on the body and by the body. The greater the weight that is used for the lift, the greater the force that has to be exerted by the body in order to lift it. If the downward force is defined as negative and the upward force positive, the force of the bar exerts a negative force on the body. The feet also push in to the platform creating an upward ground reaction force that will be in the positive direction (Gross et al., 1990). During the eccentric, or descending, portion of the lift, the force created by the muscles is less than the force being exerted by the weight, so the net force is negative. When the lowest depth of the squat is reached and the lifter begins to change direction, the forces will reach equilibrium for a brief moment and the net force will be equal (Demilio, Gross, McGrain, & Plyler, 1989). Once the ascending or concentric portion of the lift begins, net forces become positive. During the concentric portion of the lift the forces produced by the muscles creates a force a positive force greater than the negative force of the weight (Escamilla, 2001). The net positive force needed to perform the back squat successfully comes primarily from the quadriceps and back musculature. The hamstrings and hip extensor muscles are also activated when the squat is preformed to a depth that is below parallel due to the anterior pelvic tilt which adds to the activation of these secondary assisting muscle groups (Hartmann et al., 2013). The activation of these muscle groups creates a torque at both the hip, knee, and ankle joints. Collectively, these torques must create a net positive torque that is greater in magnitude to the force exerted by the resistance of the weight (Carcia, Kivlan, & Scibek, 2011). The torque that is necessary to overcome the resistance is affected by several key biomechanical factors rather than the weight of the resistance alone.

Factors that Determine the Forces Created during the Back Squat

The two main forces that affect the body during the back squat as previously mentioned are the negative force from the resistance of the barbell and the ground reaction force from the platform. (Gross et al., 1990). In order to successfully complete the lift the athlete must create a positive ground reaction force that is greater than the negative force from the barbell. To create a force great enough to lift the weight back to the starting position, the torque created at the ankle, knee, and hip joints must be positive (Demilio et al., 1989). The joint torque that needs to be created depends on several factors and may differ from athlete to athlete, even if the resistance remains constant.

The length of the shank, foot size and shoe type are all factors that could affect torque produced at the ankle and, to some extent, the knee (Baechle & Earle, 2000). The ankle and the aforementioned factors are primarily involved in stabilization and balance,

however, they are not primary contributors to moving the barbell or the body so they will not be discussed in this paper. The factors that determine the torque that is produced by primary movement joints are the squat stance and body type/ body segment length. If athletes change their squat stance this changes the biomechanics of the squat due to changes in foot position, knee position, and the range of motion of the hips; as well as which secondary muscles become activated (Fry et al., 2003).

There are two main squat stances that are used by most athletes; the "power" style and "Olympic" style stances previously explained in the introduction. This section will explain why an athlete would choose one stance over another and how it can affect the biomechanics of the squat exercise. The Olympic squat is used by Olympic weightlifters because it is performed with a more erect posture and to full depth where the hamstrings briefly come to rest on the calves. The movement of the Olympic back squat, as well as the front squat, add specific strength for the athletes so supplement the actual Clean & Jerk and Snatch movement alone (Delavier, 2010). This stance minimizes shear forces on the spine and activation of the back musculature. It maximizes activation of the quadriceps and torque produced at the knee joint due to the knees being pushed forward in front of the. The hip extensors are also activated when the femur of the athlete is below parallel in relation to the platform (Escamilla et al., 2001). For a power lifting competitor, the squat itself is the competitive movement, not a lift to supplement strength, therefore, the only goal is to lift as much weight as possible. The stance for a power squat is different biomechanically, due to the difference in purpose for the lift. The power stance, with feet wider than shoulder width and pointed outward combined with the barbell

resting lower down the back creates greater trunk lean and a depth that is no lower than parallel because that is all that is required for a successful lift in a competition(Simmons, 2007). The power squat maximizes activation of the back musculature as well as shear forces on the lumbar spine. The musculature of the groin also becomes an important secondary mover due to the width of the stance, instead of the hamstrings. This position creates more hip torque which puts less force on the knees. Splitting the torque between the two joints to share the load allows the athlete to lift more total weight (Escamilla et al., 2009). These two sports use a specific type of squat to attain a specific goal because both sports involve lifting weights. Not all sports involve lifting weights but many still benefit from increases in strength. Most athletes will have a squat technique and stance that differs from the two stances slightly, but will usually resemble one more than the other. This is due to comfort which is usually determined by the body type pf the athlete. Regardless of the style that is initially taught to an athlete, most will gravitate toward one style or the other, depending on what feels natural to them (Simmons, 2007).

The body type of an athlete will change the mechanics of the squat somewhat no matter which style they use to perform the lift. Body type refers to the differing proportionate body segment lengths. The length of the femur and torso are the main factors. Athletes with shorter femurs or a longer torso will have a more erect spine position which will place more emphasis on the quadriceps and most of the force for the lift will come from the knee joint, this variation will yield the highest magnitude of knee torque. If the athlete has long femurs or a short torso, there will be more forward trunk lean creating more shear force on the lumbar spine and placing more emphasis on the posterior chain i.e. the erector spinae and hip flexors, including the hamstrings (Delavier, 2010). Knowing this information about an athlete will help understand why an athlete will natural use one squat stance over the other. Prescribing the proper stance for the athlete will yield the best results for the development of the athlete and reduce the risk for injury (Zatsiorsky & Kraemer, 2006).

Conclusions

There has been a great deal of research devoted to the biomechanics of the back squat. The research for the back squat has examined the forces produced at the knee and hip throughout the range of motion. Due to this research it is known that the greatest amount of torque produced during a back squat is when the femur is parallel to the platform; increasing until the femur reaches that point, and decreasing slightly as it lowers past parallel until they reach the full range of motion, following the reverse pattern during the ascent phase (Escamilla, 2001). The other main factor that influences the magnitude of knee torque produced in this type of research is amount of resistance. The greater the resistance that is used, the larger the magnitude of torque produced (Hartmann et al., 2013).

One thing that has not been measured is the amount of torque produced at a parallel squat depth and half squat depth. As previously stated, when the weight remains constant, the torque produced is less at a higher depth. It is generally accepted that most athletes will have a higher 1RM for a partial squat than a full squat due to this fact. However, the amount of knee torque for a maximal effort at both depths has yet to be directly measured in the same study with the same participant performing both lifts. For this reason, the focus of this research will be to have the same athlete perform a maximal effort at both a half squat and a full squat on two separate sessions to determine whether or not the torque is equal or different, due to the supposed increase in 1RM from a full squat to a partial squat.

CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

Participants

Eight male athletes (standing height = 1.84 ± 0.07 m; mass = 87 ± 14 kg; age 23 ± 2.1) volunteered for the study. The subjects consisted of present and former competitive NCAA athletes experienced in weightlifting. Permission to conduct the study was obtained from the University of Northern Iowa Campus Committee for the Protection of Human Subjects. Informed consent was obtained from participants before the study began. At the time of the study all participants were healthy, with no complaints of knee, hip, back or other injuries.

Procedures

Collection took place in the Biomechanics Laboratory in the Wellness Recreation Center (WRC) at the University of Northern Iowa. Participants were instructed to wear tight fitting clothing for the purpose of marker visibility and placement while wearing their typical training shoes. It will be preferable to wear dark spandex which is nonreflective, but minor variations which do not interfere with data collection will be allowed.

Instrumentation

Each trial was recorded with a Vicon 370 three-dimensional (3D) motion analysis system (Oxford Metrics, Ltd., Oxford, United Kingdom). Six cameras captured the motions of 17 reflective markers, 15 attached to the subject and two to the barbell at a sampling rate of 200Hz. The Vicon system calculated 3D coordinates for the markers.

The ground reaction forces and torques exerted on the right foot were measured with an AMTI force plate (Advanced Mechanical Technology, Inc., Watertown, MA) at a sampling rate of 2000 Hz.

The 3D coordinates of the markers were expressed in terms of an inertial reference frame. The origin of the reference frame was at ground level, at the front, right corner of the force plate in relation to the subject facing forward. Its axes were defined by vectors **X**, **Y** and **Z**. **X** was horizontal, and pointed toward the left; **Y** was horizontal and pointed backward; **Z** was vertical, and pointed upward.



Figure 1 A visual representation of the pelvis cross-section that contains the centers of the hip markers (ASIS and PSIS). The hip joint was estimated to be at distances of 36%, 22%, and 30% of pelvic width laterally, posteriorly, and caudally, relative to the midpoint between the ASIS bony landmarks. Photo and method used with permission of B.W. Meyer (2005).

The reflective markers were placed on each end of the barbell and the body on the following landmarks: One anterior and two posterior on the surface of the trunk at the level of the suprasternal notch; surfaces of the left and right posterior superior iliac spines (PSIS); surfaces of the left and right posterior anterior iliac spines (ASIS); two lateral markers on the left and right iliac crests; two markers on the medial and lateral sides of the femoral epicondyles on the right leg; medial and lateral malleoli on the right leg; heel and toe of the right foot, on the surface of the participants shoes. All participants were wearing weightlifting shoes with a solid raised heel. The posterior suprasternal markers were averaged to create a single point. This point was then averaged with the anterior suprasternal marker to estimate the suprasternale position. The hip joint center was estimated using the method shown in figure 1 above and outlined by Bush and Gutowski (2003). The knee and ankle joints were calculated as being the midpoint between the medial and lateral markers. The heel and toe marker were used to create the foot segment. Marker configuration is courtesy of Dr. Ben Meyer (2005). The markers were assumed to be symmetrical in relation to the corresponding marker on the opposite side of the subject.

Protocol

Participants self-reported their 1RM back squat. The participants self-reported 1RM will be used to calculate the percentages for three warm-up sets and starting weight. Participants will be instructed to perform a warm up consisting of their choice of \sim 3 minutes of light jogging or stationary bike and will then be given \sim 5-10 minutes to perform their typical warm up to facilitate optimal performance for the individual. The

participant was escorted to the squat standards with the barbell in place. There was a warm up set of 10 repetitions at 50% of the self-reported 1RM. Another set of 5 repetitions at 75% of the self-reported 1RM.

After the warm-up, subjects will rest for 5 minutes and the bar will be loaded to 85% of 1RM. Subjects performed 3 repetitions. They rested for up to five minutes. Then they began collected trials at one repetition. This was repeated until the participant either failed to complete the squat at the required depth, or they felt that they were very near their 1RM and could no longer increase the weight. Repetitions were repeated under each of the conditions; partial squat and full squat. The order of the treatments will be randomly assigned, then they will perform the next variation the following session. Subjects will rest 1 week between treatments.

For the full squat trials each participant was instructed to squat as deep as possible, at minimum when the femur was parallel with the force platform at the lowest point of the descent. This constituted a complete full squat trial.

For the partial squat each participant was instructed to squat until they felt an elastic cord stretched across below them at a point where their femur was 45 degrees with the platform. The chord was set up using an angle measurement taken prior to the beginning of the trial collection to determine the proper height. The spotter also gave a verbal cue of an "up" command when the proper depth had been reached. This constituted a complete partial squat trial.

Data Analysis

After collection data were exported and smoothed at a rate of seven Hz using quintic spline functions fitted to the X, Y, and Z coordinates of each marker (Woltring, 1986). Custom software was used to analyze the 3-D and force plate data and calculate the joint centers and joint torques using inverse dynamic analysis. Using the procedures outlined by Dapena (1978) instantaneous location of each segment was computed. The leg segment parameters were taken from de Lava (1996). Then the proximal joint force and torque exerted by the proximal segment on the distal segment of each joint was calculated using the procedure described by Andrews (1974, 1982).

After the hip and knee torques were calculated the data points were analyzed by SPSS statistical software to determine whether there were any statistically significant differences in the levels of torque between depths. A repeated measures MANOVA was used to compare the depth effect on torque between the full and partial squat trials. A paired samples t-test was used to test the significance of the increase in barbell load from full to partial squat trials.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

Descriptive statistics of demographic data can be found in Table 1. Descriptive statistics of all performance variables at both depths at similar angles can be found in Table 2. Descriptive statistics of all performance variables at both depths at the greatest depths can be found in Table 3. The first repeated measures MANOVA demonstrated that there was no depth effect (F(3,5)=4.7, p=0.065) when comparing the full and partial squats at similar joint angles (45°). There was also no depth effect when comparing the bottom positions (F(3,5)=0.2, p=0.92). The paired samples t-test indicated that the partial squat resulted in significantly greater bar loads compared to the full squat (t(7)=12.9, p=0.001).

All data are reported as an extension torque at the instant of the subject reaching the required depth for both the full and partial squat trials and also 45° for both trials. In the full squat trials this depth is 0° (thigh parallel to floor), and 45° (angle of thigh to floor) in the partial squat trials.

| Descriptive Statistics for demographic variables. | | | | | |
|---|--------------------------|-------|-----------|--|--|
| <u>Variable</u> | $\underline{\mathbf{N}}$ | Mean | <u>SD</u> | | |
| Mass (kg) | 8 | 86.9 | 10.8 | | |
| Stature (m) | 8 | 1.85 | 0.05 | | |
| 1RM Full (kg) | 8 | 144.6 | 34.1 | | |
| 1RM Partial (kg) | 8 | 206.2 | 39.1 | | |

Table 1

21

Table 2

Descriptive statistics of performance variables by depth at similar angles (45°).

| | Full Squ | Full Squat (45°) | | Partial Squat (45°) | |
|------------------|----------|------------------|-------|---------------------|--|
| Variable | Mean | SD | Mean | SD | |
| Knee Torque (Nm) | 151.5 | 90.6 | 217.6 | 113.1 | |
| Hip Torque (Nm) | 189.2 | 83.9 | 222.1 | 140.0 | |
| Hip:Knee | 2.6 | 3.1 | 1.4 | 0.9 | |

Table 3

Descriptive statistics of performance variables by depth at the greatest depths.

| | Full Squat (0°) | | Partial Squat (0°) | |
|------------------|-----------------|-------|--------------------|-------|
| Variable | Mean | SD | Mean | SD |
| Knee Torque (Nm) | 246.9 | 136.4 | 217.6 | 113.1 |
| Hip Torque (Nm) | 215.8 | 109.6 | 222.1 | 140.0 |
| Hip:Knee | 1.3 | 1.2 | 1.4 | 0.9 |



Figure 2 The black points represent the partial squat and the grey points the full squat, the amount of barbell load required in order to produce various amounts of knee extension torque in the full and partial squats.



Figure 3 With the black points representing the partial squat and the grey points the full squat, the amount of barbell load required in order to produce various amounts of hip extension torque in the full and partial squats.

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

The results show that there is no significant difference in hip and knee torques at the bottom depth of the partial and full squat trials during a 1RM. There are no published articles examining a maximal effort partial squat to a maximal effort full squat in the same study, using the same participants. The published literature that has been referenced to this point has compared the torques created during a full squat at varying joint angles during the same trial using the same barbell load, instead of separate trials for each depth in the same study. There was also no literature found comparing the percentage increase or total load increase when performing a maximal effort full squat (thigh 45° in relation to the floor) compared to a maximal effort full squat (thigh 0°, or parallel, to the floor).

Most research for clinical purposes has been ruled out for comparison due to the fact that this research was done on healthy participants for the purposes of performance, not rehabilitation. Clinical subjects with a hip, back, or knee injury would be fundamentally different compared to the subjects of this study.

It is also difficult to compare knee and hip torques from different studies due to differences in body mass, methodologies, barbell load, and the individual subject's technique variations with emphasis on either hip of knee torque. With that in mind, there are four main articles that will be used for comparison to this data: Escamilla (2001); Hartmann et al. (2013); Escamilla et al. (2001); Gullet et al. (2009).

The above research has stated that at the same barbell load, knee and hip torques will be greater as depth increases due to an increase in the length of the moment arm at the joint centers from the center of pressure. Joint forces will be at their peak when the thigh is parallel to the floor (Escamilla, 2001). This held true for the subjects of this study, with the joint torque increasing at the hip and the knee until peaking when the thigh was parallel to the floor. However, it was possible for the subjects to reach the same torque values during the partial squat with a substantial increase in barbell load.

In a literature review done by Hartmann et al. (2013) they drew comparisons between the partial squat, which they referred to as a quarter squat at the same comparable depth as this study (50° compared to 45°), and a full deep squat (90° of knee flexion and greater). Although they drew comparisons across multiple studies with different participants, they concluded that statements against the deep squat (below thigh parallel to ground) were unfounded. When the deep squat was performed correctly and with proper supervision, it produced superior joint and muscle tissue adaptations when compared to the partial squat. This differs from the conclusions drawn by Escamilla (2001) and Escamilla et al. (2001) which stated that the deep squat could increase injury potential to the cruciate and collateral ligaments, however, they cite no specific case or epidemiological study in which an injury of this type occurred. In the comprehensive literature review done by Hartman et al. (2013), as well as in preparation for this study, no examples could be found where a deep back squat caused injury when performed correctly. In this study the average increase in barbell load for the partial squat compared to the full squat was 70.2 kg or a 60.5% increase in barbell load. It is of importance to note that these participants did not train the partial squat, so these increases were without prior training. Although they were closely supervised, the participants were hesitant to reach a point that was as near failure as during the full squat trial. The participants cited the reason being excess discomfort from the added spinal load due to the increase in barbell load, with the actual squat movement having less hip and knee joint discomfort or effort than the full squat.

The large increase in the percentage of barbell load required to achieve the same levels of hip and knee torque should be considered by anyone that would prescribe partial squats to avoid excess knee and hip torque, either due to injury, or for injury prevention. Hartmann et al. recommended full squats with a smaller load even when rehabilitating an injury. The full squat remains preferable even at more submaximal levels to maintain as much range of motion as possible for the athlete. Although at the same barbell load the partial squat will have less knee and hip torque, there will be a decrease in the range of motion which could possibly decrease flexibility of the joints and reduce joint and muscle strength adaptations through the rest of the range of motion that is not being utilized.

Another interesting note is that there was a smaller increase in hip torque when changing from the full to half squat as there was with knee torque (7 N·m compared to 30 N·m respectively). Although these changes are both small and not significant ($p \ge .05$), it does support the subjects' notes of an increase in discomfort from the increase in spinal load. They changed their mechanics to maintain a more erect posture, decreasing the shear force on the lumbar spine and shifting the center of mass closer to the heels. This change in mechanics is supported in the study by Gullet et al. (2009), although that study compared the mechanics of a back squat to a front squat, the mechanics of shifting the barbell toward the heels and maintaining a more erect posture are still similar in comparison.

This could be useful in some instances for athletes that are looking for that type of specific adaptation, specifically powerlifters or Olympic weightlifters. It should be noted however that Hartmann et al. also showed that the full squat still favored positive hip and knee joint as well as muscular development when compared to the partial squat. This should be considered when prescribing the type of squat to an athlete.

Conclusions

This study was undertaken to better understand the relationship between the full squat and partial squat when performed by the same participant at a maximal level. With this research in combination with the previous research it becomes clear that the full and partial squat do have some fundamental differences.

One such difference is the change in mechanics of shift the center of mass back toward the heels during the partial squat in order to handle the substantial increase, 60.5% average, in barbell load over the full squat. The increase in load also excessively loads the athlete's spine without a significant increase in knee or hip torque and combined with the discomfort of the participants while performing the partial squat, the full back squat will yield the same level of hip and knee torque at lower barbell loads that the athlete's musculature is better adapted to handle.

Athletes wishing to increase their maximal knee torque and increase their adaptions to an increased spinal load may still wish to perform a partial squat, however, full squats are still better suited to increase strength of the leg musculature and joints. The best results would be achieved by using the partial squat to supplement the full squat, not replace it (Bazyler et al., 2014).

Even for an athlete with a knee injury, practitioners should consider the possibility that full squats at a smaller barbell load are still preferable to a partial squat due to the maintaining of the joints flexibility and full range of motion, although it will depend on the type and severity of the injury.

Recommendations for Future Research

This research has demonstrated the hip and knee torques between a 1 RM full and partial squat as defined by this study. There are, however, more questions that could be answered by further research. One such example would be variations on the thigh angle for the partial squat. Another area of interest could be testing the two depths at submaximal levels of barbell load to see if the joint torques change at the same rate when barbell load is changed. Further study could also look in to the consistency of the percentage increase of 1RM when switching from full squats to partial squats. These are only a few examples of future studies that could be completed.

REFERENCES

- Andrews, J.G. (1974). Biomechanical analysis of human motion. In J.G. Hay (Ed.), *Kinesiology IV* (pp. 32-42). Washington, DC: American Association for Health, Physical Education, and Recreation.
- Andrews, J.G. (1982). On the relationship between resultant joint torques and muscular activity. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 14, 361-367.
- Baechle, T. R., & Earle, R. W. (2000). Essentials of Strength Training and Conditioning: National Strength and Conditioning Association. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Bazyler, C. D., Sato, K., Wassinger, C. A., Lamont, H. S., & Stone, M. H. (2014). The Efficacy of Incorporating Partial Squats in Maximal Strength Training. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 28(11), 3024-3032.
- Bohannon, R. W. (1990). Hand-Held Compared with Isokinetic Dynamometry for Measurement of Static Knee Extension Torque (Parallel Reliability of Dynamometers). *Clinical Physics and Physiological Measurement*, 11(3), 217.
- Bush, T. R., & Gutowski, P. E. (2003). An Approach for Hip Joint Center Calculation for Use in Seated Postures. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 36(11), 1739-1743.
- Carcia, C. R., Kivlan, B., & Scibek, J. S. (2011). The Relationship Between Lower Extremity Closed Kinetic Chain Strength & Sagittal Plane Landing Kinematics in Female Athletes. *International Journal of Sports Physical Therapy*, 6(1), 1.
- Cronin, J. B., & Hansen, K. T. (2005). Strength and Power Predictors of Sports Speed. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 19(2), 349-357.
- Dapena, J. (1978). A Method to Determine the Angular Momentum of a Human Body About Three Orthogonal Axes Passing Through its Center of Gravity. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 11(5), 251-256.
- Delavier, F. (2010). Strength Training Anatomy. Champaign, IL. Human Kinetics.
- De Leva, P. (1996). Adjustments to Zatsiorsky-Seluyanov's segment inertia parameters. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 29(9), 1223-1230.
- Demilio, N., Gross, M. T., McGrain, P., & Plyler, L. (1989, January). Relationship Between Multiple Predictor Variables and Normal Knee Torque Production. *Physical Therapy*, 69(1), 54+. Retrieved from: http://go.galegroup.com/ps/i.do?id=GALE%7CA6966354&v=2.1&u=uni_rodit&i t=r&p=AONE&sw=w&asid=6984fcd44d058224d97e5a822e41411e
- Escamilla, R. F. (2001). Knee Biomechanics of the Dynamic Squat Exercise. *Medicine* and Science in Sports and Exercise, 33(1), 127-141.

- Escamilla, R. F., Fleisig, G. S., Zheng, Lander, J. E., Barrentine, S. W., & Andrews (2001). Effects of Technique Variations on Knee Biomechanics During the Squat and Leg Press. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 33(9), 1552-1566.
- Escamilla, R., Zheng, N., Macleod, T., Brent Edwards, W., Imamura, R., Hreljac, A., & Andrews, J. (2009). Patellofemoral Joint Force and Stress During the Wall Squat and One-Leg Squat. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *41*(4), 879.
- Fry, A. C., Smith, J. C., & Schilling, B. K. (2003). Effect of Knee Position on Hip and Knee Torques During the Barbell Squat. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 17(4), 629-633.
- Gross, M. T., Credle, J. K., Hopkins, L. A., & Kollins, T. M. (1990). Validity of Knee Flexion and Extension Peak Torque Prediction Models. *Physical Therapy*, 70(1), 3-10.
- Gullett, J. C., Tillman, M. D., Gutierrez, G. M., & Chow, J. W. (2009). A Biomechanical Comparison of Back and Front Squats in Healthy Trained Individuals. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 23(1), 284-292.
- Hartmann, H., Wirth, K., & Klusemann, M. (2013). Analysis of the Load on the Knee Joint and Vertebral Column with Changes in Squatting Depth and Weight Load. *Sports Medicine*, 43(10), 993-1008.
- McBride, J. M., Blow, D., Kirby, T. J., Haines, T. L., Dayne, A. M., & Triplett, N. T. (2009). Relationship Between Maximal Squat Strength and Five, Ten, and Forty Yard Sprint Times. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 23(6), 1633-1636.
- McGill, S. M. (1997). The Biomechanics of Low Back Injury: Implications on Current Practice in Industry and the Clinic. *Journal of Biomechanics*, *30*(5), 465-475.
- Meyer, B.W. (2005). A comparison of hip and knee extension torques in conventional and split squat exercises. Unpublished Manuscript, University of Indiana, Indianapolis, Indiana, IN.
- Rittweger, J., Mutschelknauss, M., & Felsenberg, D. (2003). Acute Changes in Neuromuscular Excitability After Exhaustive Whole Body Vibration Exercise as Compared to Exhaustion by Squatting Exercise. *Clinical Physiology and Functional Imaging*, 23(2), 81-86.
- Schoenfeld, B. J. (2010). Squatting Kinematics and Kinetics and Their Application to Exercise Performance. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 24(12), 3497-3506.
- Simmons, L. (2007). Westside Barbell Book of Methods. Columbus, OH. Westside Barbell.

- Wisløff, U., Castagna, C., Helgerud, J., Jones, R., & Hoff, J. (2004). Strong Correlation of Maximal Squat Strength with Sprint Performance and Vertical Jump Height in Elite Soccer Players. *British journal of sports medicine*, *38*(3), 285-288.
- Woltring, H. J. (1986). A FORTRAN Package for Generalized, Cross-Validatory Spline Smoothing and Differentiation. *Advances in Engineering Software (1978)*,8(2), 104-113.
- Zatsiorsky, V. M., & Kraemer, W. J. (2006). *Science and practice of strength training*. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.